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Agenda 

1. Welcome: Janet Matton, Chairperson

2. Welcome to Country: Julie Coombes

3. Acceptance of Minutes of 2019 AGM

4. Board Report: Janet Matton, Chairperson

5. Financial Report: Luong Ta, Treasurer

6. Chief Executive Officer’s Report: Michael Smith, CEO

7. Formal Presentation of Annual Report

8. Appointment of Board Members (see over)

9. Concurrent Staff Presentations

Participants to select preferred presentation:

1. Cultural engagement and international students

2. Elder abuse

3. Family violence

4. Service pathways and client trends, including mental health

10. Guest Panel

• Fiona McLeay

Victorian Legal Services Commissioner; CEO of the Victorian Legal 
Services Board

• Dr Lois Peeler AM

Executive Director, Worawa Aboriginal College

• Bwe Thay

Deputy Chairperson, Victorian Multicultural Commission

• Moderator: Tabitha Lovett, ECLC Board

11. Breakout Roundtables

Opportunity to share with participants and explore Life Changing from 
different perspectives

12. General Business and Questions

13. Thanks and Close
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Election of Board Members for 2020 - 2022 

Under ECLC Rules, the following nominations of members for the vacancies were 
received by 4pm November 12th 2020 

 Christine Cowin 

 Luong Ta 

 Jose Abalo 

 Katherine Dowson 

The following Board members have one year remaining of a two year term:  

 Jeanette McRae  

 Guy Masters  

The Board attends to any co-options at its first meeting following the AGM.  
It intends to co-opt to the Board:  

 Janet Matton 

 Tabitha Lovett  

The Board then considers the elect ion of office bearers. 

 



Life  
Changing.
ANNUAL REPORT 2020



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
OF COUNTRY

Eastern Community Legal Centre (ECLC) acknowledges 
the Wurundjeri peoples of the Kulin Nation, the 
Traditional Owners of the land on which the Centre 
community lives and works and pay deep respect  
to Elders past, present and emerging.

ECLC also acknowledges those Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander peoples, including Elders, who came  
to live on Wurundjeri land as a result of dispossession 
from their homelands and in more recent times 
through choice.

ECLC deeply appreciates and celebrates the people, 
stories, traditions, culture and strength of Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples and is honoured 
when they work together with the Centre.

ECLC recognises that colonisation is the significant 
cause of disadvantage experienced by Aboriginal 
peoples, and that justice cannot be realised without 
ensuring the human rights of all Aboriginal peoples.*

CLIENT STORIES

ECLC highly values the confidentiality 
and privacy of its clients and yet 
many wish their stories to be heard. 
No real names or images are used 
in this report and some details have 
been amended to protect privacy.

* ECLC acknowledges the Oonah Health  
& Community Services Aboriginal Corporation  
as the basis for key elements of this statement, 
used with permission.
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Within this whirlwind, the health justice and other 
partnerships proved especially robust and sound 
which enabled community members experiencing 
additional vulnerability to receive both access to 
quality legal help and broader holistic assistance. 

Be it working remotely, new technology or 
adapted approaches with communities and 
partners, many of these changes – necessary  
or just beneficial - will continue, through into  
the new year and beyond.

Through a difficult period, the Centre extends  
its profound appreciation to the many partners and 
supporters, including government and funding 
partners. The shared commitment to changing 
lives enables all of the positive outcomes 
together.

We are both particularly proud of the commitment, 
skill and resilience of the staff team this year, 
that has adapted and strived to continue to 
change the lives of their communities every day, 
despite unexpected and extended complications. 
Recruiting and inducting new staff without meeting 
in person has been another novel addition.

The extensive volunteer support has continued, 
although that too experienced major disruption. 
Thank you to each of the volunteers and staff for 
your passion skills, enthusiasm and dedication – 
as well as your patience as the Centre adapted  
to the changed environment.

The Board’s key roles in strategy, risk 
management and custodianship were to the 
fore as it supported the leadership team 
with the many dimensions of the year. The 
additional demands were met with focus and 
determination and a care for the staff team as 
well as the community was paramount and clearly 
demonstrated. 

Life will no doubt continue to change and 
predicting the future is fraught with danger. 
Whatever is ahead, ECLC’s commitment to work 
with our community for human rights, fairness, 
and justice will remain a constant.
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Janet Matton AM 
Chairperson

Michael Smith 
CEO

It is said that change is inevitable. Yet by any 
measure the rapid change over the last year  
has been unparalleled. ECLC has continued  
to develop and extend the life changing work  
of its teams – through community engagement, 
partnerships and service responses, while 
adapting to extensive changes in context  
and parameters.

In the shadow of the coronavirus global 
pandemic, it is difficult to fully recall the changes 
in late 2019, with the brisk establishment of 
two new elder abuse response programs, along 
with the associated expansion of systems and 
infrastructure. Major initiatives in elder abuse 
prevention through the OPERA project extended 
the continuum of this collaborative effort.

From early 2020, as the coronavirus pandemic 
critically impacted ECLC’s communities as well 
its own operations, the team showed outstanding 
agility and flexibility as it moved to remote 
work while continuing to listen and respond to 
the shifting needs of the communities and its 
members. The Board and management have been 
greatly impressed by the leadership, initiative and 
responsiveness of the staff through this period.

At the 2019 AGM, ECLC launched its new 
Strategic Plan, with a focus on multidisciplinary 
approaches and further extending its formidable 
partnerships.  As the year progressed, both these 
emphases proved more than timely, with the 
robustness of the collaborations proving critical 
as the detailed impact of this multilayered 

health, social and economic crisis expanded. 
Less prominent externally, key strategies and 
prompt implementation relating to technology, 
leadership, communication and evaluation have 
enabled and underpinned the adaptations, with 
‘new ways of working’ an emerging mantra.

No matter the context, this year more than ever, 
the aim of the Centre is to change lives for the 
better. The pandemic has added complexity to 
the lives of so many community members, as  
well as to the methods of service provision. 

There has been change to how family violence 
is experienced and in how support is accessed. 
Family arrangements, tenancy, international 
students and the consequences of employment 
change have all had major impacts. Through 
all this, the team has been able to adapt to 
meet these many challenges with skill and 
commitment. This report highlights just some  
of the stories of individuals whose lives have 
been changed through this work. 

Through complex collaborations with community 
groups and agencies, the broader challenges 
of injustice, inequity and access to information 
and resources have been addressed through a 
myriad of activity. Work with CaLD (Culturally 
and Linguistically Diverse) communities and their 
leaders had been well established that facilitated 
a quick deepening as new challenges arose.  
In response, new publications, translations and 
digital resources were swiftly developed.

Life Changing
Chairperson & CEO 

CEO & CHAIR REPORT

The pandemic has added complexity 
to the lives of so many community 
members, as well as to the methods  
of service provision. 



STRATEGIC PLAN 2020 - 2023
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Human Rights 
Fairness 
Justice

Strategic Plan
2020–23

Vision

ECLC is a multidisciplinary legal service 
that works to prevent problems, progress 
fair outcomes and support the wellbeing 
and resilience of communities and 
community members in Melbourne’s East. 
Full Strategic Plan at eclc.org.au

Children and young people

People experiencing or at risk of family 
violence

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people

Older people experiencing or at risk  
of elder abuse

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, 
Intersex and Queer people

People who experience language or  
cultural barriers

People experiencing or at risk of 
homelessness

People with a disability or mental illness

PRIORITY COMMUNITIES

HUMAN RIGHTS | FAIRNESS | JUSTICE

http://www.eclc.org.au/wp-content/uploads/ECLC-Strategic_Plan-2020-23_web.pdf
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PERSON-CENTRED PRACTICE

Evaluating  
Services

IMPROVING SERVICES AND CLIENT  
EXPERIENCE 

ECLC evaluates its services and programs to 
understand what is working well and what could 
work better for the benefit of its community  
and community members.

All monitoring and evaluation is geared towards 
improving client experience, understanding and 
predicting client need, and providing an evidence-
base from which to prioritise future service 
reforms and strategic advocacy campaigns.

Evaluating key projects also demonstrates  
success that helps attract additional funding  
to deliver innovative programs across multiples 
sites and with new partners.

As the pandemic impacted Victoria, ECLC staff 
were quickly provided with ICT hardware which 
enabled them to work from home and and ensure 
continuity of services. They were also given access 
to video conferencing software which enabled 
them to meet face to face online with clients, 
communities, volunteers, board members, 
partners, and each other.

From April to June 2020, the team held 1,285 
meetings via Zoom video conferencing totaling  
222,758 minutes.  

To improve community and client experience  
when people called ECLC, and to enable staff  
to make calls through ECLC’s phone system,  
ECLC started getting ready for a new cloud- 
based phone/contact system to be implemented  
in August 2020.

Technology 
Upgrade  

The focus of ECLC’s community engagement 
increasingly reflects a multilayered approach. 

The Centre’s work across the prevention 
continuum/pyramid is well understood in family 
violence and now elder abuse. This strategy  
is now being utilised across other community  
issues and concerns.

As well as major projects, community legal 
education and broader engagement covered  
a broad range of topics and community groups 
through the year. Always developed in strategic 
partnerships, these included:

• professional development 

• school students

• cybersafety 

• CaLD communities and 

• gender diversity and inclusion

CaLD communities were especially impacted 
by the pandemic– both in confusion regarding 
seeking information in language around 
coronavirus and restrictions together with 
accessing support and information on legal issues 
that have arisen as a result - such as tenancy, 
scams, employment rights and family law.

The team quickly developed a suite of printed and 
video resources to support these communities:

Covid-19 Information and Support 

Legal Information for CALD Communities 

Common scams – also a video 

  

Community Engagement 

LEGAL 
INFORMATION 
FOR CALD 
COMMUNITIES

EASTERN COMMUNITY  
LEGAL CENTRE

COMMON
SCAMS

EASTERN COMMUNITY  
LEGAL CENTRE

COVID 19 
INFORMATION 
AND SUPPORT

EASTERN COMMUNITY  
LEGAL CENTRE

TERTIARY

SECONDARY

PRIMARY

TERTIARY PREVENTION OR RESPONSE
Supports survivors and holds perpetrators to  
account (and aims to prevent the recurrence 
of violence)

SECONDARY PREVENTION OR EARLY  
INTERVENTION
Aims to 'change the trajectory' for individuals  
at higher-than-average risk of perpetrating or 
experiencing violence

PRIMARY PREVENTION
Whole-of-population inititives that address the 
primary ('first' or underlying) drivers of violence

https://www.eclc.org.au/wp-content/uploads/CALD_COVID-19_FINAL_5.pdf
https://www.eclc.org.au/wp-content/uploads/CALD_Legal_Information_FINAL.pdf
www.eclc.org.au/scams
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PERSON-CENTRED PRACTICE

MAKING SERVICES EASIER TO FIND  
AND USE

From mid-March 2020, all ECLC staff moved 
to work from home, while quickly adapting to 
maintain services and programs remotely in 
response to the global pandemic.

This involved a rapid expansion of technology  
and a range of new supports and systems.

While challenging, the adaptations have had 
benefits for community members and staff, 
particularly where legal advice by telephone  
or videoconference has been more convenient 
than traditional in person appointments.

In exceptional situations, staff teams have 
provided in person assistance to clients, with 
safety precautions and within government 
regulations.

TRANSFORMING ENTRY THROUGH  
INTAKE 

Traditional legal service intake processes  
have created barriers for people with complex 
needs and legal and non-legal issues. ECLC has 
addressed this by transforming its entry and 
triage processes and embedding community 
service professional support as soon as people 
call the office or walk in the door. 

As well as being more respectful and 
understanding from first contact, the Centre 
has increased support and access by providing 
a trustworthy service and identifying and 
understanding each person’s inter-related  
social and legal needs.

While the Enhanced Entry Project has formally 
concluded, changes have been embedded in the 
Assessment, Intake, Referral and Response (AIRR) 
team and continue to inform service practice and 
development.

ECLC presented its new intake approach publicly 
at the National CLCs Conference and the Victoria 
Law Foundation Research Series.

ECLC SHARES REMOTE-LEGAL SERVICE 
DELIVERY KNOWLEDGE

ECLC has a major focus on assisting victim/
survivors of family violence with a range of 
multidisciplinary, specialist and broader 
programs. A number of the specialist programs 
work with clients remotely (off site and by phone) 
and utilise careful approaches to support client 
safety in this context, particularly in the use of 
technology.

With the impact of the coronavirus pandemic  
and isolation restrictions being implemented, 
ECLC made some rapid changes to its service 
delivery model, to enable continued legal 
assistance to those most at need, particularly 
people who are at an increased risk of 
experiencing family violence or where the  
violence may escalate.

ECLC provided training to its broader legal team 
and intake staff to increase safety as they moved  
to remote service delivery as usual practice.  
ECLC was then requested to offer some of  
these insights and techniques more broadly.

The Centre developed a webinar and key 
resources to support legal services to adapt  
to remote service delivery, while mitigating the 
increased risk to family violence victim/survivors 
of this approach. The resource was developed 
and distributed widely in partnership with the 
Victoria Law Foundation and the Federation  
of Community Legal Centres.

Service Pathways

CLIENT STORY

NGARRA
ECLC’s AIRR Team’s flexibility and advice helped Ngarra an Aboriginal 
community member with mental health and other issues who was facing  
a series of fines, take control of his affairs and apply for a review of the  
fines himself.

Ngarra was referred to ECLC because he was having difficulties seeing his 
children and had outstanding fines. In supporting Ngarra to engage with ECLC, 
the intake team and his support worker felt a face-to-face appointment  
might work better for him. 

During this appointment, Ngarra disclosed he had started having contact  
with his children. The community lawyer gave him information and options 
in case he had difficulty seeing his children again. With his permission, the 
lawyer also found out more about his fines from Fines Victoria. 

The lawyer advised Ngarra and gave him options and pro forma letters he 
could use to seek a review of the fines given he had been suffering from 
mental health and other issues when he got the fines and could therefore 
apply for ‘special circumstances’.  

Ngarra was very thankful and felt he was able to apply himself for a review  
of his fines by Fines Victoria. ECLC’s intake team encouraged him to come 
back if he needed any more help.

ECLC’s Manager - Family Violence Initiatives, Marika 
Manioudakis

ECLC’s Manager - Family Violence Initiatives, Marika Manioudakis
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PERSON-CENTRED PRACTICE

The effects of the pandemic have been keenly felt 
on direct services particularly in relation to the 
family violence duty lawyer service at Ringwood 
Magistrates’ Court. The generalist team have 
worked closely with Victoria Legal Aid and Victoria 
Police to effectively service clients.

The courts have been grappling with infrastructure 
changes, list prioritisation and service provision.  
As a result, there is a lack of consistency state-
wide from Magistrates’ Courts in adaptability 
to service flexibility. ECLC is monitoring referral 
trends and maintain close contact with Court staff 
to address emerging issues. ECLC’s longstanding 
investment in partnership work with the Court 
has created trusting relationships which are not 
necessarily reflected in other locations.

Legal services have been less office geographically 
focussed during remote service provision. This has 
brought unintended benefits of providing more 
opportunities to assist eligible clients and enabled 
flexible use of staffing capacity.

Where HJP and agency partnerships which assist 
community members experiencing vulnerability 
were strong, client referrals have remained 
high and effective. This has ensured service 
provision has remained steady and appointments 
consistently filled.

Infringements and fines comprise a large part of 
ECLC’s work, with the matters relatively process-
driven and predictable. Lawyers also often see 
clients with multiple, complex legal issues, of 
which infringements are frequently one of the 
many matters the client needs assistance with. 

The team established a Fines Clinic, initially piloted 
for 6 months to:

•  create a more efficient and streamlined process

•  free up lawyers’ time to focus on priority 
 complex matters, and

•  train and provide experience to volunteers.

MEETING CLIENT AND COMMUNITY  
LEGAL AND SUPPORT NEEDS

ECLC helps people from identified priority 
communities with a range of legal matters.

ECLC has been a pioneer of multidisciplinary  
and integrated services in the legal assistance 
sector. It has demonstrated that collaborative 
services better meet clients’ intersecting legal  
and support needs.

WHAT IS AN INTEGRATED LEGAL  
SERVICE?

From a community legal centre perspective 
an integrated practice is one that integrates 
community lawyers, financial counsellors and 
other community service professionals who  
work together to address the needs of  
community members.

‘Integration’ can take different forms including 
co-location, multidisciplinary/interdisciplinary 
teams or partnerships with community services, 
including health justice partnerships.

INTEGRATED PRACTICE FRAMEWORK

ECLC’s Integrated Practice Framework is a key 
policy and practice guide that:

• guides how legal and related services and 
 programs are delivered;

• provides consistency and ensures best practice 
 across all of the integrated practice services  
 and programs;

• informs and provides practical guidance to  
 all staff;

• helps staff from all disciplines understand and 
 respect their professional and ethical 
 obligations; and

• better addresses the intersecting legal and 
 social support needs of community members.

All of the integrated practice programs are 
independently and rigorously evaluated to measure 
their effectiveness and success.

Legal Services

 
ECLC’s integrated and multidisciplinary programs 
address early intervention and response. They 
include:

FAMILY VIOLENCE 

Mabels – an HJP with a community lawyer 
with a family violence advocate and 
Aboriginal Liaison Officer within maternal 
and child health services to allow for early 
intervention for women experiencing 
family violence.

SAGE – a legal program with a community 
lawyer, family violence advocate and 
financial counsellor who can provide 
a holistic response to the intertwined 
needs of women experiencing family 
violence.

WELS – an HJP with a community lawyer 
within Eastern Health’s maternity services 
for helping women during pregnancy, a 
time when they are at an increased risk  
of experiencing family violence.

ELDER ABUSE

ROSE – a legal program with a community 
lawyer, elder abuse advocate and 
financial counsellor to provide a holistic 
response to older people experiencing  
or at risk of elder abuse.

ELSA – an HJP with a community lawyer 
and financial counsellor within Eastern 
Health to provide a holistic response for 
older people experiencing or at risk of 
elder abuse.

COMPLEX NEEDS

HEAL – a program with a community 
lawyer and client advocate to provide 
co-ordinated legal and other support 
in response to interrelated legal 
and psychosocial needs of people 
experiencing mental health issues; 
alcohol or other drug related issues; or 
at risk of or experiencing homelessness, 
working closely with key local services

AIRR Team Assessment Intake Referral  
 & Response

CALD Culturally and Linguistically 
 Diverse

CLE Community Legal Education

DSLS Deakin Student Legal Service

EEAN Eastern Elder Abuse Network

EEP Enhanced Entry Project

ELSA Engaging and Living Safely and  
 Autonomously 

HJP        Health Justice Partnership

HEAL Holistic Empowerment   
 Advocacy Legal 

IOSS Intervention Order Support   
 Service (Ringwood 
 Magistrates’ Court)

Mabels Mothers and babies engaging   
 living safely 

OPERA Older People, Equity, Respect  
 and Ageing

ROSE Rights of Seniors in the East 

SAGE Support Advice Guidance   
 Empowerment 

WELS Women Engaging and Living   
 Safely 

YRIPP Youth Referral and    
 Independent Person  
 Program (CMY)

ACRONYMSINTEGRATED PROGRAMS



ECLC CLIENT DEMOGRAPHICS 

Required assistance 
of an interpreter

Were from Culturally 
or Linguistically 
Diverse backgrounds

Identified as  
Indigenous  
Australians

People Experiencing  
Family Violence

Were at risk of 
homelessness

Disclosed having  
a disability or  
Mental illness

30% 7% 55%

33% 2% 9%

CLIENT STORY

JAN
Fines Victoria recently agreed to withdraw  
Jan’s fines under the Family Violence Scheme. 
This scheme allows people who have 
experienced family violence to have their 
infringements revoked if there is a connection 
between the violence and the fines.

Jan came to ECLC looking for legal help with 
a large number of fines that she accumulated 
over six months. She had recently managed to 
break ties with a community member who had 
manipulated and controlled her over five years. 
This person had isolated Jan from her family and 
restricted her access to her finances. They had 
also influenced Jan’s decision making.

Under the Family Violence Scheme, the lawyer 
demonstrated that Jan had experienced family 
violence. This was not a traditional ‘family 
member’ claim as Jan had a Personal Safety 
Intervention Order against the community 
member, not a family member. 

The community lawyer argued that the 
relationship of trust between Jan and the 
community member and the significant influence 
that this person had over Jan should be treated 
as family violence. Fines Victoria agreed with this 
submission.

The community lawyer then had to demonstrate 
that there was a connection between the family 
violence and the infringements. This involved 
multiple submissions on the kind of the family 
violence Jan had suffered, its impact, and how 
this contributed to Jan’s behaviour.

After extensive negotiations, Fines Victoria 
agreed to withdraw all of Jan’s infringements 
under the Family Violence Scheme.
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STATISTICS 

TOTAL NUMBER OF CLIENTS: 2373

GENDER (%)

New Clients   1769

Repeat Clients  636

Existing Clients  321

Other gender 0.08% Unknown 1.3%

Females 53% Males 46%

DUTY LAWYER (IOSS)

COMMUNITY LEGAL EDUCATION

967  
Clients

75  
Sessions

AGE (%)

Representation Services 
Delivered to People 
Experiencing Financial 
Disadvantage

98%

0-17      18-24    25-34    35-49    50-64      65+

0.8          16.2       25.3        33.7        15.1         8.3

INCOME (%)

Nil               Low       Medium          High    

2.15               59.21            19.51              1.43
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PARTNERSHIPS 

ECLC partners with health, housing, community 
service and government providers to develop 
and deliver a range of assistance to community 
members within new locations and models.  
This collaborative approach is better addressing 
ECLC’s community and clients’ legal and social 
support needs.

The Health Justice Partnerships and other 
collaborative programs are leading a transformation 
in the community legal services that are delivered 
to priority communities.

HEALTH JUSTICE PARTNERSHIP  
MATERNITY SERVICE HIGHLY EFFECTIVE

In its first year of service delivery, WELS has 
demonstrated that a Health Justice Partnership-
based maternity service is highly effective for 
helping women during pregnancy, a time when 
they are at an increased risk of experiencing  
family violence.

WELS is a Health Justice Partnership (HJP) 
between Eastern Health and ECLC that started  
as a two year pilot program in April 2019.

Funded by Eastern Health through its 
Strengthening Hospital’s Response to Family 
Violence project, WELS found in its first year of 
service that the 57 women who were referred  
to WELS most commonly sought information and 
legal advice relating to their experience of family 
violence and their options in seeking safety for 
themselves and their unborn baby.

The WELS community lawyer has become an 
essential member of the health team which 
provides maternity services through Eastern 
Health to pregnant women so they can access 
family violence and related legal information, 
advice, and referrals.

Eastern Health’s Family Violence Project Manager 
Jackie Orwin said this model improves the health 
service’s ability to quickly and appropriately 
respond to the intertwined health, family violence, 
and legal needs of women at a critical time in their 
lives when they are at risk of, or experiencing family 
violence.

Multidisciplinary and 
Integrated Practice

MATTER OF RESPECT TO STOP FAMILY 
VIOLENCE

The community-led Matter of Respect project 
focuses on preventing family violence in the 
Burmese, Myanmar, and Indian communities  
in the eastern suburbs of Melbourne.

Leaders from the Falam Chin, Karen, and Indian 
communities work with ECLC to address gender 
inequality, a key driver of family violence, as well  
as the unique needs of each community.

A workshop on family law was developed for the 
Indian community. It covered legal matters relating 
to family violence and will be delivered face to face 
and via Zoom video.

During the pandemic lockdown, the Falam Chin 
and Karen community leaders quickly adapted and 
continued to engage in the project using Zoom 
video and they were given legal resources, pandemic 
updates, and family violence information. 

The community leaders also took part in 
Recognise, Respond and Refer family violence 
training in partnership with EDVOS (Eastern 
Domestic Violence Service) to help them  
better support any community increase  
in family violence.

Since 2012, health and legal organisations 
have been working together through Health 
Justice Partnerships (HJPs) to improve their 
responsiveness and effectiveness in meeting 
health and legal needs in Australia. (Health 
Justice Australia, www.healthjustice.org.au)

Through integrating a legal service into a 
healthcare setting, an HJP is designed to break 
down barriers to accessible legal services for 
people experiencing health issues and brings 
health benefits due to effective legal advocacy 
on behalf of patients.

CARA
Cara was feeling anxious about her partner’s 
aggressive discipline of their two young children 
and he also constantly criticised, belittling and 
undermining her in front of them.  She felt 
increasingly alone, as her partner discouraged 
catch-ups with her family and friends.  Cara’s 
Maternal and Child Health nurse referred her  
to the Mabels team.  

Cara didn’t think of her partner’s behaviour as 
family violence.  In the appointment, the Mabels 
lawyer and family violence advocate spoke with 
Cara about family violence and the dynamics of 
power and control behind his behaviour.  They 
discussed her right to feel safe and supported 
and the impact of family violence on childhood 
development.  The lawyer talked with her about 
the options in an Intervention Order as well  
as family law children’s arrangements and rights  
to property, if she considered separating.

After her appointment, with some strategies 
from the advocate, Cara spoke with her partner 
about how his behaviour was making her feel. He 
dismissed this and blamed her for any problems 
they were having.

Cara ultimately decided to separate, after 
considering the impact of her partner’s behaviour 
on her and the children.  With further help from 
Mabels, Cara made a safety plan and preparations 
to protect her financial position and reduce the 
impact of separation on her children.

The support from the Mabels HJP came at a 
critical time for Cara – she was empowered with 
the advice she received and was able to calmly 
consider the best options for herself and her 
children.  Her instinct told her that her partner’s 
behaviour wasn’t right, and the team provided her 
with tools to navigate a safer path.  

CLIENT STORY

“Pregnant women that engage with our maternity services 
are able to easily and safely access family violence legal 
support. The streamlined referral pathway provided 
through WELS enables pregnant women who are at risk  
of experiencing family violence to get legal help within  
a trusted health setting.” said Jackie

www.healthjustice.org.au
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ECLC’s Deakin Student Legal Service (DSLS)  
continued to work closely with Deakin University 
Student Union (DUSA) and Barwon Community  
Legal Service to deliver legal services to  
international students. 

Whilst the main areas of legal assistance were 
tenancy and migration law, financial problems  
have also been significant for international 
students. During the year, the service was 
improved by more partnerships with financial 
counsellors from DUSA.

ECLC, DUSA’s financial counsellor and volunteers 
raised student awareness of preventative legal and 
financial approaches that can be used, and potential 
issues the students may encounter.

During the pandemic, International Students in 
Australia were dramatically impacted, particularly 
with the loss of employment and no government 
support.

Demand for the legal service increased markedly. 
DUSA and ECLC collaborated to promptly expand 
services to this group experiencing increased 
disadvantage.

ECLC’s newest integrated-practice program – 
HEAL (Holistic Empowerment Advocacy & Legal) 
bought community legal and advocacy services 
together to help community members with 
complex needs.

Funded by the Legal Services Board, HEAL uses 
an integrated-practice model adapted from 
ECLC’s other programs to provide more flexible 
and responsive legal and other services to people 
needing intensive legal and other support.

A HEAL Client Advocacy Co-ordinator and 
Community Lawyer help people who may be 
experiencing or at risk of homelessness and/or 
people experiencing mental health and/or alcohol 
and other drug issues.

The HEAL team provides ongoing legal and other 
help depending on client needs across a range  
of legal issues.

The HEAL program works in partnership with key 
community service organisations such as PARC 
(Prevention and Recovery Care), Eastern Health’s 
Brief Intervention Team, Hospital Outreach 
Post-suicide attempt Engagement, EACH’s SURe 
(Substance Use Recovery) and Uniting.

 

WHAT HEAL CLIENTS HAVE SAID:

“…. was very relieved after 
appointment and legal 
information and options 
provided and stated the 
appointment was very  
helpful.”

“I got more legal information  
in this appointment than I have 
from any other lawyer. Thank 
you for keeping in contact  
with me.”

“You guys have done an 
amazing job …. was so  
happy with the outcomes.”

CLIENT STORY

EMMA
Emma, a Deakin University student who accidentally  
left the shower on and damaged the floorboards  
in her rental property, had a $9,500 claim by her 
landlord reduced by more than two thirds with  
help from ECLC.

Emma had reported the damage she’d done several 
times to the real estate agent but there was no 
response. Six months later, she received an invoice  
for more than $7,000 to fix the damage.

Emma tried to negotiate with the real estate agent 
and landlord but did not have any success due 
to language barriers. She then received a VCAT 
application with a claim by the landlord for almost 
$10,000 which included the cost of the repairs, the 
amount of the bond, and some other costs.

On Emma’s behalf, ECLC’s Deakin Student Legal 
Service lawyer wrote to the real estate agent and 
proposed that Emma forfeit her bond (approx. 
$2,100) and that the VCAT application be withdrawn. 
The agent accepted ECLC’s lawyer’s offer two days 
later. Emma signed the bond claim form so the bond 
could be released to the agent and the matter was 
withdrawn.

The HEAL logo is a celebratory symbol of a person’s  
lived experiences. It is based on Kintsugi, a Japanese art  
of repairing broken pottery with gold, transforming it into  
something stronger and more beautiful. Kintsugi can be  
a powerful metaphor for overcoming adversity, healing  
and resilience.

PARTNERSHIPS 

HEAL Deakin Legal Service
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Elder Abuse

ELSA (ENGAGING AND LIVING SAFELY 
AND AUTONOMOUSLY)

ECLC’s Elder Abuse Health Justice Partnership 
with Eastern Health helps identify and quickly 
respond to older people with increased 
vulnerability experiencing or at risk of  
elder abuse.

ELSA works with Eastern Health social workers 
and other staff to deliver an early intervention, 
integrated legal and financial service to older 
patients receiving in patient or outpatient care.

Based on preliminary research, hospital staff are 
well-placed to identify elder abuse at the earliest 
stages as older people are more likely to disclose 
to health staff than other people. 

In the past 12 months, the ELSA team has 
responded to 68 requests for help, supported 
9 clients, referred 2 community members to 
specialist services, and provided 57 secondary 
consultations.

The ELSA team also filmed an introductory video 
about ELSA for Eastern Health staff and expanded 
ELSA services in late March 2020 to Wantirna 
Health and Maroondah Hospital.

ELSA is located at Peter James Centre, and 
receives referrals from all Eastern Health sites.

EASTERN HEALTH’S FAMILY VIOLENCE 
PROJECT MANAGER JACKIE ORWIN  
IN RESPONSE TO THE CHALLENGES  
PRESENTED BY THE PANDEMIC:

“A benefit of having a strong 
partnership has been the courage 
to innovate, change and adapt 
together, not knowing what is 
ahead.”

ROSE (RIGHTS OF SENIORS IN THE EAST)

ROSE, ECLC’s specialist elder abuse unit, was 
launched in October 2019. 

The ROSE team comprising a Community Lawyer, 
Advocate, and Financial Counsellor provide 
integrated legal, financial and social support 
services for seniors experiencing or at risk of  
elder abuse. The team provides advice, ongoing 
case management support and referrals based  
on client wishes and needs.

The Community Lawyer, Advocate and Financial 
Counsellor hold the initial meeting with the  
senior as a team, subject to their consent. The 
team assess the needs of the senior during this 
meeting and then meet them as a team of two 
or three on an ongoing basis to provide case 
management support.

In eight months since ROSE began, the ROSE team 
has responded to 134 requests for help, provided 
long-term case management to 28 clients, referred 
35 clients to specialised services, and provided 71 
secondary consultations with professionals and 
community members.

The ROSE team is based at ECLC’s Boronia office 
and can travel to other ECLC and partner offices 
and outreach locations for clients with mobility 
and other challenges.

ROSE also receives referrals from workers and  
is available for secondary consultations.

ELSA FINANCIAL COUNSELLOR  
KATRINA BARRETT:

“The opportunity for clients 
to receive legal and financial 
counselling support and  
information would not be  
possible without this Health  
Justice Partnership. Some clients 
are more vulnerable because  
they are isolated, cognitively 
compromised, and rely on the 
perpetrator they live with who 
provides all transport. The 
creativity of the collaboration 
through this partnership has 
opened the door for people  
who are more at risk.”

PARTNERSHIPS 

ANNA
ECLC’s Elder Abuse team helped Anna who 
had no savings, could not afford private rent, 
and who was at risk of being homeless to get 
legal and social support services to stay in her 
home.

Anna and her husband of some years, Jack, 
were forced to transfer ownership of their 
home to Jack’s son Richard (Anna’s step son) 
who then sold the home and bought another 
house in his own name. Jack and Anna lived 
in that house. Jack was getting the age 
pension but it was cancelled because he had 
transferred his home to his son. Jack’s health 
began to deteriorate. Anna worked to provide 
and care for him until he died.

Following Jack’s funeral, Richard and his wife 
demanded that Anna leave the house. They 
also threatened to forcibly remove Anna from 
her home and then sent Anna a notice to 
vacate within 60 days.

The ROSE team (community lawyer, financial 
counsellor and advocate) helped Anna get the 
legal, financial, and social support services 
she needed. The community lawyer lodged a 
caveat on Anna’s home to stop Richard selling 
the property and with a pro bono barrister 
started legal proceedings in the Supreme 
Court. 

At mediation, the community lawyer, barrister 
and advocate supported Anna who settled 
with Richard. Anna was able to remain in 
her home for 18-months and she received 
some money to help her pay for her future 
accommodation and living needs.

CLIENT STORY



NATIONAL AGED CARE REFORM  
CONFERENCE

The Eastern Elder Abuse Network joined a panel 
of experts at the National Aged Care Reform 
Conference in Melbourne in November 2019.

Shahaan Murray, Managing Lawyer Elder Abuse said 
that criminal and civil laws provide ways to respond 
to elder abuse but elder abuse is not just a legal 
problem and there are many issues that need to  
be considered such as:

• Seniors have the right to decide if they will take  
 legal action.

• Elder abuse cases involve complex family and  
 social factors.

• Most perpetrators of elder abuse are adult  
 children of the victim/survivor.

• Many elder abuse cases do not result in legal 
 action for many reasons. 

“Developing strong partnerships, such as health 
justice partnerships and building community and 
service providers’ awareness of elder abuse and 
future planning supports early intervention while 
strong referral pathways to response services 
supports seniors experiencing abuse,”  said 
Shahaan.

Jill Exon, Elder Abuse Prevention Co-ordinator 
drew attention to the importance of primary 
prevention. While primary prevention of elder 
abuse is an emerging space, there is a lot we can 
do to prevent elder abuse from happening in the 
first place. 

“We need to think of this as a long-term 
investment to shift attitudes, behaviours, systems 
and structures to create a society where all older 
people are safe, valued and respected. 

“And we need to work across all levels of society 
to address the underlying drivers of abuse and 
challenge the social norms that enable,  
perpetuate and excuse ageism, and ultimately,  
the abuse of older people,” said Jill.
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As a trusted expert in relation to preventative  
and early intervention assistance for family 
violence and elder abuse, ECLC engages in key 
social, economic and legal decision-making 
forums to help address systems’ inefficiencies  
that adversely affect disadvantaged communities. 

ECLC also joins with its partners to secure rights 
for members of priority communities, contributes 
ideas and support for developing and building 
advocacy campaigns, and provides relevant data  
on the lived experience of community members  
it supports.

ELDER ABUSE NETWORK FOCUSES  
ON ENDING ELDER ABUSE

The Eastern Elder Abuse Network (EEAN)  
continued to focus on its vision of ‘A world 
where older people are safe, valued and  
respected. Where their contribution is  
celebrated’ to end elder abuse in the eastern  
suburbs of Melbourne.

In late 2019, EEAN was restructured to strengthen 
the network and provide a more strategic way 
of working across the continuum of primary 
prevention, early intervention and response.

The three new EEAN working groups are  
getting results that reflect the specialised 
expertise and commitment from many sectors.

Established in 2010, EEAN now has more than 
150 people representing about 50 member 
organisations from a wide range of sectors: 
local, state and federal governments, community 
health, legal services, police, aged care, hospital, 
women’s health, primary care partnerships, 
family violence, finance, ethno-specific and 
multicultural agencies, and other specialist 
services.

Uniting to Advocate  
for Justice 

eastern community legal centre 

PARTNERSHIPS 

EASTERN ELDER ABUSE NETWORK WORKING GROUP KEY ACTIVITIES 2019/20

Response:

Elder abuse key 
messages infographic 
and a referral pathway 
for elder abuse 
services in the eastern 
metropolitan region

Primary prevention:

A primary prevention 
Framework for action  
to address elder abuse  
in the eastern metropolitan 
region with a focus on 
ageism

World Elder Abuse  
Awareness Day (WEAAD):

A regional campaign to 
acknowledge and raise  
awareness of WEAAD

ELDER ABUSE TRANSLATIONS HELP DURING PANDEMIC

ECLC is translating elder abuse legal information into key languages  
to help prevent elder abuse with a grant from Manningham City Council. 

ECLC was very concerned about the impact of the pandemic on older  
people and CALD (Culturally and Linguistically Diverse) communities.

Older people are at risk because they are isolated and rely on others  
for their care and support. They are even more isolated and reliant  
than ever before.
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ECLC and Swinburne University showed how 
seniors in Melbourne’s east are defying ageist 
stereotypes at the launch of the OPERA project 
(Older People: Equity, Respect & Ageing). 

The launch of OPERA’s key community 
consultation reports, a new website, and a series 
of co-designed videos produced by Swinburne 
University at Eastland Hoyts Cinema in Ringwood  
in December 2019 attracted 75 people.

Eastern Metropolitan MLC Sonja Terpstra officially 
launched the OPERA project on behalf of The 
Hon. Luke Donnellan MP Minister for Disability, 
Ageing and Carers.

The OPERA project contributes to and builds on  
the evidence base around the underlying causes 
of elder abuse which helps to inform practices  
on how society can stop it from happening in  
the first place.

ECLC OPERA project leader Jill Exon said it was 
interesting that the project’s goal of unpacking 
the concept of ageism was not as straight forward 
as she expected.

Dr Diana Bossio, from Swinburne University’s  
Media and Communication Program said what  
was most surprising was that no-one wanted  
to talk about ageism.

While there were many reasons why older 
community members who participated in 
consultations felt discriminated against and 
disrespected in society, there was the sense  
among participants, that in society, a person’s 
‘value’ is directly linked to a person’s income and 
the perception of their capacity to contribute 
economically through an earned wage.

www.opera.eclc.org.au

PARTNERSHIPS 

A World Without Ageism
WORLD ELDER ABUSE CAMPAIGN

As part of the World Elder Abuse Awareness  
Day online campaign on 15 June 2020, OPERA 
launched follow up videos to promote and share 
the resilient voices of the seniors who featured  
in the first round of videos during the pandemic.

Aboriginal Elder Aunty Janet Turpie-Johnstone,  
who features in the new videos, said she’s finding  
the dependence on an economic system that 
provides us with money to keep the economic 
wheels turning is emotionally and physically 
unsatisfying along with the psychological impact  
of constantly going from one thing to the next.

“There is something inherently wrong with this 
system. For me, the positive is somewhere we  
had toslow down.

“The interesting thing I’m seeing is the panic  
about what we do next. I’d be interested to see  
in 12 months what we’ve done,” said Aunty Janet.

“We found that the term 
‘ageism’ wasn’t one that 
resonated at all with 
community members.  
We really had to adapt  
our approach and shift  
our language,” said Jill.

“There is a perception that 
if you’re not contributing 
financially to the economy,  
then you’re not of value,”  
said Jill.

www.opera.eclc.org.au
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As a multidisciplinary legal service that delivers 
across the prevention, early intervention and 
response continuum, ECLC shared its views and 
considerable experience in implementing effective 
family violence reform with the Family Violence 
Reform Implementation Monitor 

ECLC’s key recommendation is that they should 
support integrated-practice funding models to 
bring services and service hubs together, rather 
than supporting siloed models which has been 
the traditional and less successful approach for 
implementing family violence reform.

The family violence system needs to respond 
in a way which best meets the needs of the 
entire community. Services addressing family 
violence need to work together and should be 
recognised across the continuum of prevention, 
early intervention and response, which was also 
acknowledged in the Royal Commission into  
Family Violence Report,”

    Read ECLC’s submission to the Monitor

ADVOCATING FOR INTEGRATED FAMILY 
VIOLENCE SERVICES

ECLC’s Belinda Lo, Director - Legal Services, and 
Marika Manioudakis, Manager - Family Violence 
Initiatives spoke at Law Institute of Victoria’s (LIV) 
Family Violence Roundtable in February about how 
the advocacy work of family violence and family 
law practitioners is strengthened by integrating 
services across legal, health and other disciplines.

The Roundtable focussed on how the family 
law system is addressing family violence and 
the gaps that need to be addressed. It included 
presentations by Rosie Batty AO, Victoria Legal  
Aid and ECLC.

“We need to keep having these conversations. 
When we shine a light on an area of law that needs 
reforming, we suffer fatigue. But that is when we 
most need to come together and apply ourselves 
to problem solving. Our most important work is  
yet to happen,” said Caroline Counsel LIV 
Roundtable Chair.

Rosie Batty said she believed that once we woke 
up to family violence, addressing it would be 
straightforward. “I think we are going backwards 
right now. We need to be fired up and not let that 
happen,” she said.

Belinda and Marika spoke about the lessons ECLC 
has learned through delivering its family violence 
integrated-practice programs including Mabels, 
SAGE, and WELS. 

TOGETHER FOR RESPECT AT HOME: 

ECLC helped promote the Together for Respect 
at Home social media campaign launched by 
Together for Equality and Respect (TFER) partners’ 
in April 2020 to promote kindness, compassion, 
and respect messages on its social media.

This campaign took a collaborative and evidence-
based approach to prevent violence against 
women during the pandemic through promoting 
respectful relationships and positive mental  
health and wellbeing strategies.

The Together for Respect at Home campaign 
encourages the community to choose kindness, 
compassion and respect during this difficult time.

Panel presenters at the Law Institute of Victoria’s Family Violence 
Roundtable held on 18 February 2020.

Community leaders from Culturally and 
Linguistically Diverse (CaLD) communities in the 
eastern suburbs of Melbourne assisted Parliament 
of Victoria with its inquiries into the 2018 Victorian 
state election and the state of homelessness 
in Victoria, as well as helping to improve its 
engagement with CaLD communities.

ECLC’s Engaging Communities in Democracy 
project is led by a Multicultural Advisory 
Committee which is working with Parliament  
staff to help CaLD community members engage 
with democratic and law-making processes  
that affect their communities.

Community leader and advisory committee 
member Dilnaz Billimoria said, “Engaging 
Communities in Democracy equals Expanding 
Communication Diversity.”

“The advisory committee,  
a two way channel, enables 
faith and cultural communities 
to provide feedback on 
Parliamentary issues and 
empowers these communities 
for advocacy on relevant 
issues,” said Dilnaz.

In early March 2020, ECLC held a community 
forum about the 2018 Victorian state election.  
The forum was attended by the advisory 
committee, Parliamentary committee MPs, 
Parliament of Victoria staff, and various CaLD 
community members. Since then, the advisory 
committee and Parliamentary staff have 
supported CaLD communities during the  
pandemic, by checking in with communities  
and preparing materials and resources to  
help them during the crisis.

The advisory committee will help evaluate 
Parliamentary publications and resources  
for CaLD communities to make them easier  
to access and use.

The project is funded by the Parliament  
of Victoria.

Above: ECLC’s Anthony Huber and MPs Ros Spence, Labor Member 
for Yuroke, and Andy Meddick, Animal Justice Party MLC for Western 
Victoria at Engaging Communities in Democracy consultation.

PARTNERSHIPS 

Family Violence Reform Leaders Engaging  
with Parliament

Image source: TFER social media campaign 
(www.whe.org.au)
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https://www.eclc.org.au/wp-content/uploads/Eastern-CLC-FVRIM-Submission-July-2020-final-.pdf
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Access Health and Community

Anchor

Anglicare Victoria

ARC Justice

Attorney-General’s Department

Australian Chin Association         

Australian Government

Bahai Association of Victoria 

Balwyn Welfare Association

Barwon Community Legal 
Service

Better Place Australia

Boorndawan Willam Aboriginal 
Healing Service

Boroondara Interfaith Network               

Box Hill Community Information 
& Support

Camcare

Carrington Health

Centre for Innovative Justice 
(RMIT)

Centre for Multicultural Youth

Centrelink (Services Australia)

Chinese Community Social 
Services Centre

Chinese Health Foundation  
of Australia

Cire Services

City of Boroondara

City of Whitehorse

Communities’ Council on  
Ethnic Issues

Community Legal Centres 
Australia

Court Network

Craig Family Centre

Dawood Bohra Community 
Group 

Deakin University Student 
Association

Department of Education  
and Training

Department of Health and 
Human Services

Department of Justice and 
Community Safety

Devenish Lawyers

EACH

Eastern Health

Eastern Mental Health Service 
Coordination Alliance (EMHSCA)

EDVOS (Eastern Domestic 
Violence Service)

EMR Family Violence 
Partnership

Er Yu Fo Guang Shan Buddhist 
Temple (Box Hill) 

Ethnic Communities Council  
of Victoria

Family Access Network

Federation of Community  
Legal Centres

Financial Counselling Vic

Fronditha Care

Gateway LLEN

Glen Park Community House

Healesville Living and Learning 
Centre

Healing Service

Health Justice Australia

HICCI (Healesville Interchurch 
Community Care Inc.)

Holding Redlich

IAEC education, migration  

Indian Senior Citizens 
Association of Victoria

IndianCare

Inner East PCP

Inspiro Community Health 
Service

JH Legal

Justice Connect

knowmore

Knox City Council

Knox Infolink

Living and Learning @ Ajani

Louise Multicultural Community 
Centre

Manningham Interfaith Network

Manningham City Council

Maroondah City Council

Maroondah interfaith Network 

Maurice Blackburn Lawyers

Migrant Information Centre 
(Eastern)

Moores

Mullum Mullum Indigenous 
Gathering Place

Office of the Public Advocate

Oonah Health & Community 
Services Aboriginal 
Corporation

Outer East Primary Care 
Partnership

Parliament of Victoria

Phyllis Connor Memorial Trust

Regional Aboriginal Justice 
Advisory Committee

Ringwood Family Relationship 
Centre (EACH)

Ringwood Magistrates’ Court

Robinson Gill Lawyers

Seniors Rights Victoria

Sri Guru Nanak Satsang Sabha- 
Blackburn Gurdwara        

Swinburne University

The Basin Community House

The Besen Foundation

The University of Melbourne

Together For Equality  
& Respect

UMMA - United Muslim Migrants 
Association Manningham 

Uniting Vic.Tas

Victoria Law Foundation

Victoria Legal Aid

Victoria Police

Victorian Government

Victorian Legal Services Board

Victorian Multicultural 
Commission

Victorian Women’s Trust

Villamanta Disability Rights 
Legal Service

Whitehorse Interfaith Network

Women’s Health East

Women’s Legal Service Victoria

Yarra Ranges Council

YX Ball Financial P/L

Zomi Community Youth Group

Zoroastrian Faith Group      

Partnerships

PARTNERS 

ECLC works with its service partners in the region and other legal 
assistance organisations more broadly to extend the benefits of 
multidisciplinary and integrated service models to more members  
of its community.
ECLC thanks its many funding, government, community and agency partners for their collaborations  
and creating stronger communities across Melbourne’s eastern suburbs.
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Alexander Marinis

Alexandra Gunn

Alison Zhu

Allen Sajive

Amir Bahrami

Amy Yu

Anastasia Misarvidis-
Tyshing

Andrew Taylor

Anna Chen

Antony Colafella

Ashleigh Hudson

Ashley Peter-Budge

Ben Freeman

Ben Reid

Brendan McCarthy

Briana Jackman

Carla Panozzo

Carolyn Ford

Cherie Canning

Christine Kim

Christopher Mitchell

Claire Smart

Clement Wong

Connor Miscamble

Courtney Salter

Crystal Pei

Danielle Burton

Darcy White

Darren Wong

David Goddard

David Lim

Dean Pavitt

Denise O’Shannassy

Donna Farrell

Elisabeth Blackwell

Elise Anselma

Eliza Sinclair

Elly Butel

Emily La

Emily Cook

Erin Varker

Evangeline Yong

Frances Jackson

Gaetano Daquino

Gavin Wiltshire

Georgia Bishop

Geraldine Griffiths

Gregor Campbell

Heidi Ruckert

Helen Gay

Helen Tselios

Hillary Tsang

Ian Fieldhouse

Isabella Kang

Jacinta Richards

Jana Andritsos

Jonathan Green

Joseph Jeney

Kahlia Shenstone

Kaitlin Bakken

Karen Jones

Karin Costenoble

Karly Banks

Lauren Crome

Leigh Crosbie

Lily Angelovski

Lisa Bradley

Lucas Nicoll

Margaret (Marg) Willis

Mark Tomisich

Markus Tan

Mary Pirozek

Michael King

Molly Grant

Mudit Dhami

Naseef Abdulla

Volunteers

PEOPLE

Throughout the year, ECLC’s volunteers provided 
excellent service in a range of roles.

The pandemic led to a suspension of volunteer 
services for a time as staffed shifted to working 
remotely.

The 2020 Volunteers and Partnerships Dinner in 
May was cancelled, with a much smaller virtual  
volunteer gathering helping to maintain contact.   

Gradually a significant number of generous 
volunteers were able to provide legal and other 
support in day and evening programs through 
remote technology.

ECLC hopes to renew and expand volunteer 
programs as the pandemic eases.

Nick Carstein

Nicole Flory

Nigel Ross

Nubil Ahamadon

Pamela McNulty

Paul Thompson

Peter Nicholas

Rachael Lim

Rhonda Goodall

Ruth Ong

Samuel Dixon

Samyuktha Ganesh

Sarah Adlawan

Sarah-Jane Mills

Shayannah Beck

Sophie McIntyre

Stephanie Thirlwall

Tamara Hamilton-Noy

Tess Meaden

Thomas Oliver

Tyra O’Neill

Victor Tse

Wesley Chau

William Deng

Zoe Pace

These volunteers worked closely with staff and each other to 
provide amazing services in 2019/20. Many have been doing  
so for a number of years.

REMEMBERING NIGEL ROSS

ECLC warmly remembers and honours one  
of its longstanding Night Service volunteers  
Nigel Ross who passed away on 6 July 2020.

Nigel was a passionate and committed volunteer 
and lawyer with almost 30 years’ experience. 
Before ECLC’s Outer East office was established, 
he was a longstanding volunteer with Knox 
Infolink’s legal service in Boronia. When ECLC’s 
Boronia office opened, Nigel was one of the 
first volunteers that joined ECLC through a 
partnership with Infolink in early 2006. 

Nigel was a proud Supervising Lawyer and 
member of ECLC’s Boronia’s Sapphire Team of 
Night Service volunteers. He would always send 
a Christmas card and gift to ECLC and often 
hand delivered his greetings personally. Nigel 
would often offer his support over Christmas 
breaks when ECLC was closed. He rarely missed 
his volunteer shifts and would always be willing 
to make himself available if ECLC’s Night Service 
team needed someone to cover a shift. 

Nigel had a vibrant and engaging personality and 
was very committed to his local community with 
his office based in Upper Ferntree Gully – and 
also to multicultural and religious diversity. 

He is greatly missed by ECLC’s community.
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BOARD

Chairperson:
Janet Matton AM
Deputy Chairperson:
Christine Cowin
Secretary:
Jose Abalo
Treasurer:
Luong Ta
Board Members:
Katherine Dowson
Tabitha Lovett
Dr Guy Masters
Jeanette McRae

PATRON

Hon. Justice Jennifer Coate AO

STAFF

Chief Executive Officer: 
Michael Smith

DIRECTORS

Legal Services (Principal 
Lawyer):
Belinda Lo
Partnerships & Community 
Development: 
Donna Askew
People and Shared Services:
Emma Pryce-Baxter

LEGAL SERVICES

Managing Lawyers:
Deborah Miller 
Amanda McAnuff 
Samantha Liddy
Deakin Student Legal Service
Co-ordinator: 
Connie Chen

Senior Community Lawyers:
Connie Chen
Sara Molenaar

Community Lawyers:
Gergis Ayoub 
Kate Gustke
Pavel Sraj 
Kirsten Matthews 

Huong Tran  
(HEAL)
Migration Agent:
Shasheema Ruwanpathirana

Client Advocacy  
Co-ordinator (Heal):
Sharon Villanueva  

ELDER ABUSE

Managing Lawyer:
Shahaan Murray

Partnership Co-ordinator: 
Nikki Harris-Allan 

Community Lawyers:
Jennifer Faulkner 

Mdu Radebe 

Kirrilli Ryland 

Advocate: 
Jenny Stewart

Financial Counsellors:
Katrina Barrett

Vivian Rea

Intake and Administration:
Kelly Reid 

Development:
Sonya Mitchell 

FAMILY VIOLENCE 
INITIATIVES

Manager:
Marika Manioudakis 

Integrated Practice  
Co-ordinator:
Christina Burke

MABELS, WELS

Co-ordinator:
Susan Amos 
Anita Koochew
Community Lawyers:
Rashini Fernando 
Kathleen O’Callaghan 
Family Violence Advocate:
Felicity Ellis
Intake and Administration:
Holly Phillips-Kliska

SAGE

Co–ordinator:
Ruth Howland  
Senior Community Lawyer:
Belinda Li
Rachael Pliner
Family Violence Advocate:
Rina McInnes  
Financial Counsellor:
Michelle Ludwig  
Intake and Administration:
Mera Sivanesan 

Kelsey Smith 
 
 

PARTNERSHIPS  
& COMMUNITY  
DEVELOPMENT

Managers:
Jacinta Maloney  
(Inner East/HEAL)
Kate Gibson  
(Outer East/Yarra Ranges)
Chalita Ugrinovksi  
(Quality and Evaluation)
Co-ordinators:
Iresha Buthgamuwa
Trish Cameron 

Anita Koochew 
Yarra Ranges

Capella Henderson 
Matter of Respect

Jill Exon 
Elder Abuse Prevention 
Projects:
Vanessa Czerniawski
Anthony Huber
Financial Counsellor (FMC):
Diane Debell 

YRIPP (CMY):
Susan Hillman Stolz
Nhu Ngoc Tran  

Akeer GarangAIRR TEAM  
(Assessment, Intake,  

Referral and Response)

Manager - Client Services:
Sonia Jolley
Intake and Administration:
Kathryn Barnett 
Samuel Dixon 
Louise Higgins 
Josie Kirk 
Alistair Montfort 
Mera Sivanesan 
Maddison Cubbit  
Alexandra Gunn 
Burnet Wang 
Trainee:
Brittany McKissack
Kapia Manukau

PEOPLE & SHARED  
SERVICES

Finance Manager:
Michael Woollard 
Executive Assistant:
Emma O’Brien
Executive Assistant / 
Communication: 
Naomi Hynes
Communication:
Kathy Pullman
People and Shared  
Services Officers:
Stephanie Streets 
Kelsey Smith
Melissa Dowsett

CONGRATULATIONS TO  
JANET MATTON AM

ECLC congratulated its Chairperson Janet 
Matton who became a Member of the Order  
of Australia (AM) for her significant service to  
the information technology and health sectors.

Janet has been an ECLC Board member for eight 
years and Chairperson since 2014. She also serves 
on health, private sector and government boards 
and is President of the Australian Centre for 
the Moving Image. She has 20 years of previous 
corporate management experience in information 
and communications technology and was awarded 
Victorian Telstra Business Woman of the Year in 2010.

SCHOLARSHIP FOR ELDER ABUSE  
RESPONSE TEAM MEMBER

ECLC’s Kelly Reid was awarded a Jan Pentland 
Scholarship to study for a Diploma of Financial 
Counselling Scholarship.

The Jan Pentland Scholarship provides financial 
assistance to undertake study in financial 
counselling or a related field. It is awarded on 
the basis that recipients will make a significant 
contribution to the field.

Kelly has worked with ECLC for more than four years. 
She joined the Elder Abuse response team when the 
ELSA and ROSE projects began in late 2019.

Prior to joining ECLC, Kelly worked at a major bank 
for thirteen years. Her passion for helping people  
to better their financial position led her to work  
for Good Shepherd Microfinance which gave her  
an invaluable perspective into the need for financial 
counselling. She saw firsthand the difference it 
made in providing hope and stability to people  
and their families.

Board and Staff

PEOPLE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY 

2020 will no doubt be a year that turns out to 
be one that not many would have been able to 
forecast.  Under such an uncertain environment, 
ECLC was able to continue to provide the Eastern 
community with essential services under a COVID 
safe model whilst operating with a net surplus 
of $30,361 for the 2019/20 financial year. This is 
comparatively down against the previous financial 
year of $56,175 operating surplus, but nevertheless 
reflects a stable financially position.  Revenue for 
2019/20 increased by 34% relative to previous 
financial year mainly reflecting the increased elder 
abuse services ECLC is providing the Eastern 
community. 

Net assets/Reserves at 30th June 2020 of $315,214 
is a slight improvement from prior year of $284,853. 

Current assets at 30th June 2020 continues to 
cover current liabilities ensuring short term liquidity, 
although there has been a short term increase in 
debtors and receivables comparative to previous 
end of financial year position.  Looking ahead,  
ECLC will no doubt continue to play an important 
role supporting the Eastern community going into 
2021 and already have plans to continue to invest 
in the great people that form part of the ECLC 
organisation and and the important systems that 
allow it to operate smoothly.

On behalf of the members of ECLC, I thank the 
Board and Management for their prudent financial 
management.

Luong Ta 
Treasurer

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2020 $ 2019 $

Revenue 4,465,367 3,321,445 

Finance income 24,527 22,122

Employee benefits expense (3,942,626) (2,833,653)

Property and equipment expenses (187,167) (150,020)

Administration expenses (129,924) (88,641)

Program expenses (198,352) (215,078)

Finance expenses (1,464) -

Surplus for the year 30,361 56,175

Financial Summary

89%  Staffing

4%  Program

4%  Property & Equipment

3%  Administration

EXPENSESINCOME
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2020

2020 $ 2019 $

ASSETS

Current Assets 1,493,122 1,764,047

Non-Current Assets 380,460 121,534

Total Assets 1,873,582 1,885,581

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities 1,338,990 1,527,998

Non-Current Liabilities 219,378 72,730

Total Liabilities 1,558,368 1,600,728

Net Assets 315,214 284,853

EQUITY

Accumulated surplus 315,214 284,853

TOTAL MEMBERS’ FUNDS 315,214 284,853

  
The full Audited Financial Statements are publicly available at www.eclc.org.au and on the ACNC website.

70%  AGD/VLA

15%  State Govt

6%   Community 
         Partnerships

4%  Legal Services  
 Board

3%  Local Government

1%  Interest

1%  Other

www.eclc.org.au
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Eastern Community Legal Centre Inc. 
45th Annual General Meeting 
Monday, 25 November 2019, 3.00pm at 

Ringwood Bowls Club, 2-12 Loughnan Road, 
Ringwood  

MINUTES

- 1 -

In Attendance 
See list at back. 

ECLC Staff in Attendance
See list at back. 

1. Welcome and opening
Chairperson, Janet Matton welcomed all to the 45th Annual General Meeting of Eastern Community Legal 
Centre (ECLC). Janet acknowledged the Wurundjeri People, the Traditional Owners of the land on which 
people were gathered today and paid respects to their Elders both past and present. 

On behalf of ECLC, Janet also acknowledged the special guests present at the AGM, as well as members, 
volunteers, staff and supporters. 

2. Apologies
See list at back. 

3. Welcome to Country
A Welcome to Country was presented by Ms. Julie Coombes, Aboriginal Elder.

4. Acceptance of Minutes from 2018 AGM
A copy of the Minutes of the previous Annual General Meeting held on 20 November 2018 was provided to 
attendees. 

Motion: That the minutes of the Eastern CLC 2018 AGM be accepted as a true and accurate 
record. 

Moved: Guy Masters Seconded:  Katherine Dowson 

CARRIED 

5. Matters arising from the minutes
No matters were raised. 

6. Board Report
Janet highlighted that funding security throughout 2018-19 has enabled the Centre a year of stability and less 
uncertainty. Janet noted the growth of funding which enables services to expand. Through this growth and 
service delivery, new partnerships have been formed and Janet welcomed these partnerships. This 
combination presents the Board with some interesting opportunities for robust discussions.  
Janet extended her thanks to members of the Board for their dedication and expertise.  

Janet officially launched the Strategic Plan 2020 – 23. This Strategic plan highlights the collaboration and 
partnerships of ECLC and a list of these partnerships can be found in the Annual Report 2019.  
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7. Financial Report: Luong Ta, Treasurer
Luong highlighted that Centre’s income for 2018 – 19 is stable and this is due to funding partnerships. This 
reflects that hard work that has been done by Michael Smith and the board. 

Luong noted that the centre has had substance growth this year, up 80% to last year, including a 56% 
increase in surplus and the centre’s current reserves are at $284,000.  

Our current assets will need to be monitored to cover liability and this will be monitored by the board. 

Motion: That the Financial Report be received. 
Moved: Christine Cowin Seconded: Guy Masters 

CARRIED 

8. Chief Executive Officer’s Report
Michael Smith welcomed everyone in attendance and acknowledged the Wurundjeri People, the Traditional 
Owners of the land on which people were gathered today and paid respects to their Elders both past and 
present. 

Michael thanked Julie Coombes for her Welcome to Country and John Kennedy MP for his attendance. 

Michael also acknowledged the attendance of Bonnie Bedwell, who is a Life Member of ECLC.   

It was highlighted by Michael that the campaign ’16 days of activism against gender based violence’ starts 
today and runs until the 10th December. This is a campaign that is run by Women’s Health East and 
Together for Equality and Respect (TFER) partnership of which ECLC is privileged to take part in.  

Michael noted that each year, the Centre’s AGM has a theme. This year the theme was ‘Communities 
Collaborating’ 

Michael touched on updates from throughout the year which saw the introduction of 3 new programs as well 
as new staff members. These new projects were:R 

 ROSE: Rights of seniors in the East. This is an Elder Abuse Specialist Unit, which integrates the
work of a Community Lawyer, Advocate and Financial Counsellor.

 ELSA: Engaging & Living Safely and Autonomously is an Elder Abuse Health Justice Partnership
with Eastern Health. Staff at Eastern Health have been trained to identify Elder Abuse and refer
cases onto the ELSA team.

 WELS: Women Engaging and Living Safely is an antenatal Health Justice Partnership. This is a two
year pilot program to respond to the needs of women attending Eastern Health for maternity services
and will play a key role relating to family violence and child safety.

 OPERA: Older People, Equity, Respect and Ageing. This is a prevention program witrh research and
digital intervention components developed with Swinburne University.

 HEAL: Holistic, Empowerment, Advocacy, and Legal. This builds on the Enhanced Entry Project and
aims to develop understanding and integrate practices within ECLC and the community sector.

These projects are all working in different areas and this is something that is shown in the new strategic plan; 
multidisciplinary partnerships coming together to get fair outcomes in the East.  

Michael reiterated that the Centre cannot do any of this alone. A shared voice is much more effective and 
powerful. Michael acknowledged the Centre’s funding partners. 

A special thanks was given to Malcom Cummings who finished up this year on the ECLC board. Malcolm 
served the ECLC board for six years. 

Michael closed by thanking Janet Matton, Chairperson and the Board for their support, as well as all staff 
and volunteers for their efforts.  

The growth and success that is celebrated today, is not just from ECLC but with our communities 
collaborating.  
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9. Formal Presentation of Annual Report 
Janet Matton presented the Centre’s Annual Report and thanked the team at Eastern Community Legal 
Centre for their work on the publication. 

Motion: That the 2019 – 2020 Annual Report be received. 
Moved: Janet Matton  Seconded:  Dilnaz Billimoria  

CARRIED 

10. Appointment of Board Members 
Three nominations were formally and correctly received for the three vacancies on ECLC’s Board in 
accordance with the Centre’s Rules: 

 Guy Masters 
 Jeanette McRae 
 Tabitha Lovett  

The nominees were declared elected for a two year term. 

Janet extended her gratitude to the Centre’s Board members for their active participation and help to guide the 
evolution and success of the Centre in the past year. 

11. General Business  
Dilnaz Billimoria who is a valued Community Volunteer of ECLC congratulated ECLC on their great work in 
the Inner and Outer East. Dilnaz always gets get pleasure when hearing about ECLC at community events 
and is proud to be a volunteer. She also paid tribute to the board and its members, who should be proud to be 
part of a wonderful organisation.  

12. Preview of the OPERA Project  
Donna Askew; Director Partnerships and Community Development introduced ECLC’s project in 
collaboration with Swinburne University. The program was led by Dr Diana Bossio, who is the Program 
Director, Media and Communication postgraduate program. Jill Exon and Kate Gibson from ECLC also 
played pivotal roles in getting this program developed.  
Swinburne, along with ECLC spoke with about 200 older people about their experience with ageing. These 
experiences were then developed into digital interventions which will help reframe the conversation around 
ageing and hopefully frame ageing in a positive way. 

Through the launch of OPERA, there is the prospect of additional projects within the community sector 
between ECLC and Swinburne. 

Donna announced the official launch for the OPERA project will be Friday 13th December, 2019 at Ringwood 
Hoyts. This was followed by a short video from the project.  

13. Elder Abuse Response  
Belinda Lo, Director of Legal Services spoke about the introduction of the new Elder Abuse programs that 
have recently been implemented. Up until now, Elder Abuse work was primarily done through the 
Partnerships and Community Development team, with an example of this being the Matter Of Trust project.  

However, extensive work has been done locally and nationally and ECLC is now offering a holistic approach 
to Elder Abuse through the national Elder Abuse Service Trials. Often the traditional legal approach for Elder 
Abuse is not the best for the client, often seeking out legal help can make the situation worse.  

Belinda introduced Shahaan Murray who is the leader of the two new Elder Abuse teams at ECLC, ELSA 
and ROSE. ELSA is a partnership with Eastern Health, which looks at early intervention and ROSE is a 
centre-based model.  

Belinda and Shahaan highlighted that the use of a financial counsellor within these two programs is what 
makes them unique. Financial abuse is a large factor in elder abuse and the use of a financial counsellor can 
assist clients with this matter discreetly.    
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14. Key Note Address: Dylan Langley
Michael spoke and briefly introduced the Brighter Futures Outer East program that the Centre has been 
involved in.  

Brighter Futures Outer East is a program that connects young people with local community members and 
help them reach their goals. Together with the community, Brighter Futures is opening doors and creating 
new opportunities for young people in the outer east.  

The program was developed by a broad group of government and community agencies and members, under 
the Victorian Government’s Child and Youth Area Partnerships initiative.  

A brief video was shown outlining Brighter Futures Outer East.  

Michael welcomed and introduced Dylan Langley, who is a youth consultant and public speaker. 

Dylan is currently on the Executive for the Brighter Futures Initiative and also an ambassador the Home 
Stretch campaign. Both these programs look engage young people within Out of Home Care and what can 
be done to support them after the age of 18. 

Dylan noted that the Brighter Futures program is a co-design initiative which is run by different organisations 
and community groups. The collaboration that comes with these group working together really creates a 
positive change for a young person before they leave Out of Home Care. Brighter Futures has been a 
definite highlight in Dylan’s short career and he has experienced personal growth and lasting connections.  

Home stretch is another program that Dylan is a part of and is something that is very significant for him. 
Home Stretch works with a young person after they turn 18 to help them transition from Out of Home Care. 
This is not something that Dylan had as an option, when he turned 18 he was told his best option was a 
homeless shelter.  This program has been extended to include 50 more people over 5 years. Dylan would 
like to see every young person have a shot a life and they deserve to be put on the right path.   

Dylan reiterated that these initiatives need to have impact on more than 50 people. Support needs to be 
given to the young person to help them transition into an adult life, not just extending the care they receive. 

Dylan was asked about his mental health during this difficult time in his life. He noted that it was an extremely 
dark time for him, but working on his fitness and forming a network of community helped. He commented that 
‘Humans were designed to be social creatures’.   

Dylan concluded by saying the work that ECLC does in working together to help clients solve their problems, 
is similar to the work that he does with Brighter Futures, and this is a good example of communities 
collaborating.  

15. Thanks and Close
Michael thanked Dylan again and congratulated him on his leadership. 

Janet closed the meeting at 4.42pm by thanking the ECLC Board, staff and volunteers for their ongoing 
dedication, passion and enthusiasm, and everyone in attendance for their ongoing support of the Centre. 

Attendees were invited to remain for afternoon tea

In Attendance 
Akeer Garang, Alasdair Gall, Anand Shome, Anne Chan, Bonnie Bedwell, Bree Morrison, Bwe Thay, Christine 
Cowin, David Cooke, Deb Robert, Debra Styles, Denise O’Shannasy, Dilnaz Billimoria, Dylan Langley, Eddie 
Thomson, Gavin Hodgkinson, Geoff de Young, Guy Masters, Heidi Tucker, Helen Gay, Helen Jurcevic OAM, 
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James Thangman, Janet Matton, Jennifer Fisher, John Kennedy MP, Julie Coombes, Katherine Maywood, 
Kellie English, Kevin Treacey, Kim Nguyen, Kristine Olaris, Lauren Gordon, Tammy Schiltz, Luong Ta, Marg 
Willis, Noah Hiet, Sharon Porteous, Sui Ting Tse, Tabitha Lovett, Tracey Blythe, Trish McCudden, Vicki 
Middleton.  

ECLC Staff in Attendance 

Anita Koochew, Belinda Li, Belinda Lo, Connie Chen, Deborah Miller, Donna Askew, Emma Pryce – Baxter, 
Gergis Felicity Ellis, Gergis Ayoub, Holly Phillips-Kliska, Iresha Buthgamuwa, Jennifer Faulkner, Jenny 
Stewart, Jill Exon, Josie Kirk, Kate Gibson, Kathleen O’Callaghan, Kathy Pullman, Katrina Barrett, Kelly Reid, 
Kirrilli Ryland, Kirsten Matthews, Marika Manioudakis, Melissa Dowsett,  Michael Smith, Michael Woollard, 
Nikki Harris – Allan, Samantha Liddy, Sammy Dixon, Sara Molenaar, Shahaan Murray, Stephanie Streets, 
Susan Amos, Trish Cameron and Emma O’Brien (minutes) 

Apologies 
Barbara Crisp, Bridget Vallance MP, Carmel Guerra, Hon Daniel Andrews MP,  Dustin Halse MP, Erskine 
Rodan, Jenny Scicluna, Judith Voce, Kay Hackworth, Cr. Prue Cutts, Cr. Richard Higgins, Roz Williams,  
Cr. Sharon Ellis, Tanya Scicluna, Tom Conley, Hon Tony Smith MP.  
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Eastern Community Legal Centre Inc. 
ABN 89 833 124 364 

 
 

Auditor's Independence Declaration under Section 60-40 of the Charities 
and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 to the Responsible Persons of 
Eastern Community Legal Centre Inc. 

 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2020, there have been: 

 
(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in section 60-40 of the Australian 

Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 
 

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 
 
 

LDB Audit Services Pty Ltd 
1-3 Albert Street 
BLACKBURN VIC 3130 

 
 
 
 

Hilton Miller 
Director 

 
 

Signed this ............................. day of ..................................................................... 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

  2020 2019 
Note $ $ 

Revenue  4,465,367 3,321,445 
Finance income  24,527 22,122 
Employee benefits expense  (3,942,626) (2,833,653) 
Property and equipment expenses  (187,167) (150,020) 
Administration expenses  (129,924) (88,641) 
Program expenses  (198,352) (215,078) 
Finance expenses  (1,464) - 

Surplus before income tax  30,361 56,175 
Income tax expense  - - 

Surplus for the year  30,361 56,175 

Other comprehensive income, net of 
income tax 

   

Total comprehensive income for the 
year 

  
30,361 

 
56,175 

 
The Association has initially applied AASB 15 and AASB 1058 using the cumulative effect method and has not restated 
comparatives. The comparatives have been prepared using AASB 111, AASB 118, AASB 1004 and related interpretations. 
The Association has initially applied AASB 16 using the cumulative effect method and has not restated comparatives. The 
comparatives have been prepared using AASB 117 and related interpretations. 
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Statement of Financial Position 
As At 30 June 2020 

 

   
2020 

 
2019 

 Note $ $ 

ASSETS 
CURRENT ASSETS 

   

Cash and cash equivalents 6 234,895 294,264 
Trade and other receivables 7 434,769 157,461 
Other financial assets 8 823,458 1,312,322 

 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,493,122 1,764,047 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 

Property, plant and equipment 9 220,074 121,534 
Right-of-use assets 10 160,386 - 

 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 380,460 121,534 

TOTAL ASSETS  1,873,582 1,885,581 

LIABILITIES 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 

   

Trade and other payables 11 836,007 1,120,943 
Lease liabilities 10 38,050 - 
Short-term provisions 12 464,933 407,055 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,338,990 1,527,998 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 

Lease liabilities 10 127,857 - 
Long-term provisions 12 91,521 72,730 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 

NET ASSETS 315,214 284,853 
 

EQUITY 
Accumulated surplus 

 
 

315,214 

 
 

284,853 
TOTAL MEMBERS' FUNDS 315,214 284,853 

 

 
The Association has initially applied AASB 15 and AASB 1058 using the cumulative effect method and has not restated 
comparatives. The comparatives have been prepared using AASB 111, AASB 118, AASB 1004 and related interpretations. 
The Association has initially applied AASB 16 using the cumulative effect method and has not restated comparatives. The 
comparatives have been prepared using AASB 117 and related interpretations. 

 219,378 72,730 
 1,558,368 1,600,728 
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Statement of Changes in Equity  

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
2020 

 Retained 
Earnings 

 
Total 

 $ $ 
Balance at 1 July 2019 284,853 284,853 
Surplus attributable to members 30,361 30,361 

Balance at 30 June 2020 315,214 315,214 

 
2019 

  

 Retained 
Earnings 

 
Total 

 $ $ 
Balance at 1 July 2018 228,678 228,678 
Surplus attributable to members 56,175 56,175 

Balance at 30 June 2019 284,853 284,853 
 

The Association has initially applied AASB 15 and AASB 1058 using the cumulative effect method and has not restated 
comparatives. The comparatives have been prepared using AASB 111, AASB 118, AASB 1004 and related interpretations. 
The Association has initially applied AASB 16 using the cumulative effect method and has not restated comparatives. The 
comparatives have been prepared using AASB 117 and related interpretations. 
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Statement of Cash Flows  

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

   
2020 

 
2019 

 Note $ $ 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING    
ACTIVITIES:    

Receipts from grants and others  3,764,667 3,583,979 
Payments to suppliers and 
employees 

  
(4,191,987) 

 
(3,046,754) 

Interest received  24,527 22,122 
Net cash provided by/(used in)    
operating activities 13 (402,793) 559,347 

 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 

   

ACTIVITIES:    

Proceeds from sale of plant and 
equipment 

  
20,909 

 
- 

Redemption/ (purchase) of 
investment 

  
488,864 

 
(404,174) 

Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment 

  
(166,349) 

 
(22,267) 

Net cash provided by/(used in)    
investing activities  343,424 (426,441) 

 
 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents held 

  
 
 

(59,369) 

 
 
 

132,906 
Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of year 

  
294,264 

 
161,358 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of    
financial year 6 234,895 294,264 

 
The Association has initially applied AASB 15 and AASB 1058 using the cumulative effect method and has not restated 
comparatives. The comparatives have been prepared using AASB 111, AASB 118, AASB 1004 and related interpretations. 
The Association has initially applied AASB 16 using the cumulative effect method and has not restated comparatives. The 
comparatives have been prepared using AASB 117 and related interpretations. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

The financial report covers Eastern Community Legal Centre Inc. as an individual entity. Eastern Community Legal Centre 
Inc. is a not-for-profit Association, registered and domiciled in Australia. 

 
The principal activities of the Association for the year ended 30 June 2020 were to provide multidisciplinary legal services 
that works to prevent problems, progress fair outcomes and support the wellbeing and resilience of communities and 
community members in Melbourne's East. 

 
The functional and presentation currency of Eastern Community Legal Centre Inc. is Australian dollars. 

Comparatives are consistent with prior years, unless otherwise stated. 

1 Basis of Preparation 
 

In the opinion of those charged with Governance the Association is not a reporting entity since there are unlikely to 
exist users of the financial statements who are not able to command the preparation of reports tailored so as to satisfy 
specifically all of their information needs. These special purpose financial statements have been prepared to meet the 
reporting requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012. 

 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the recognition and measurement requirements of 
the Australian Accounting Standards and Accounting Interpretations, and the disclosure requirements of AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements, AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows, AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes 
in Accounting Estimates and Errors and AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures. 

 
2 Change in Accounting Policy 

 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers - Adoption of AASB 15 

 
The Association has adopted AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 Income of Not-for- 
Profit Entities for the first time in the current year with a date of initial application of 1 July 2019. 

 
The Association has applied AASB 15 and AASB 1058 using the cumulative effect method which means the 
comparative information has not been restated and continues to be reported under AASB 111, AASB 118, AASB 1004 
and related interpretations. All adjustments, if any, on adoption of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 have been taken to 
retained earnings at 1 July 2019. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

2 Change in Accounting Policy 

Leases - Adoption of AASB 16 

The Association has adopted AASB 16 Leases using the modified retrospective (cumulative catch-up) method from 1 
July 2019 and therefore the comparative information for the year ended 30 June 2019 has not been restated and has 
been prepared in accordance with AASB 117 Leases and associated Accounting Interpretations. 

 
Impact of adoption of AASB 16 

 
The impact of adopting AASB 16 is described below: 

 
Association as a lessee 

 
Under AASB 117, the Association assessed whether leases were operating or finance leases based on its assessment 
of whether the significant risks and rewards of ownership had been transferred to the Association or remained with the 
lessor.  Under AASB 16, there is no differentiation between finance and operating leases for the lessee and therefore 
all leases which meet the definition of a lease are recognised on the statement of financial position (except for short- 
term leases and leases of low value assets). 

 
The Association has elected to use the exception to lease accounting for short-term leases and leases of low value 
assets, and the lease expense relating to these leases are recognised in the statement of profit or loss on a straight 
line basis. 

 
Practical expedients used on transition 

 
AASB 16 includes a number of practical expedients which can be used on transition, the Association has used the 
following expedients: 

 
• contracts which had previously been assessed as not containing leases under AASB 117 were not re-assessed 

on transition to AASB 16; 
 

• lease liabilities have been discounted using the Association's incremental borrowing rate at 1 July 2019; 
 

• right-of-use assets at 1 July 2019 have been measured at an amount equal to the lease liability adjusted by the 
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments; 

 
• a single discount rate was applied to all leases with similar characteristics; 

 
• the right-of-use asset was adjusted by the existing onerous lease provision (where relevant) at 30 June 2019 

rather than perform impairment testing of the right-of-use asset; 
 

• excluded leases with an expiry date prior to 30 June 2020 from the statement of financial position and lease 
expenses for these leases have been recorded on a straight-line basis over the remaining term; 

 
• used hindsight when determining the lease term if the contract contains options to extend or terminate the 

lease; 
 

• for leases which were classified as finance leases under AASB 117, the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
asset and the lease liability at 1 July 2019 are the same value as the leased asset and liability on 30 June 2019. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

2 Change in Accounting Policy 
 

Financial statement impact of adoption of AASB 16 
 

The Association has recognised right-of-use assets of $225,545 and lease liabilities of $225,545 at 1 July 2019, for 
leases previously classified as operating leases. 

 
The weighted average lessee's incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities at 1 July 2019 was 0.90%. 

 
3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 
(a) Income Tax 

 
The Association is exempt from income tax under Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 

 
(b) Goods and services tax (GST) 

 
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except 
where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 

 
Receivables and payable are stated inclusive of GST. 

 
Cash flows in the statement of cash flows are included on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 
classified as operating cash flows. 

 
(c) Financial instruments 

 
Financial instruments are recognised initially on the date that the Association becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

 
On initial recognition, all financial instruments are measured at fair value plus transaction costs (except for 
instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are expensed as incurred). 

 
Financial assets 

 
All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, 
depending on the classification of the financial assets. 

 
Classification 

 
On initial recognition, the Association classifies its financial assets into the following categories, those 
measured at: 

 
• amortised cost 

 
• fair value through profit or loss - FVTPL 

 
• fair value through other comprehensive income - equity instrument (FVOCI - equity) 

 
• fair value through other comprehensive income - debt investments (FVOCI - debt) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

(c) Financial instruments 

Financial assets 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Association changes its 
business model for managing financial assets. 

 
Amortised cost 

 
Assets measured at amortised cost are financial assets where: 

 
• the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 

 
• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 

The Association's financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade and other receivables and cash 
and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position. 

 
Subsequent to initial recognition, these assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method less provision for impairment. 

 
Interest income, foreign exchange gains or losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Gain or loss 
on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
Fair value through other comprehensive income 

 
Equity instruments 

 
The Association has a number of strategic investments in listed and unlisted entities over which are they do not 
have significant influence nor control.  The Association has made an irrevocable election to classify these  
equity investments as fair value through other comprehensive income as they are not held for trading purposes. 

 
These investments are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive 
income (financial asset reserve). On disposal any balance in the financial asset reserve is transferred to 
retained earnings and is not reclassified to profit or loss. 

 
Dividends are recognised as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of 
the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI. 

 
Financial assets through profit or loss 

 
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
income as described above are measured at FVTPL. 

 
Net gains or losses, including any interest or dividend income are recognised in profit or loss (refer to hedging 
accounting policy for derivatives designated as hedging instruments.) 

 
The Association holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate risk 
exposures. Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(c) Financial instruments 

Financial assets 
host contract is not a financial asset and certain criteria are met. 

 
The Association's financial assets measured at FVTPL comprise derivatives [insert details of other financial 
assets carried at FVTPL] in the statement of financial position. 

 
Impairment of financial assets 

 
Impairment of financial assets is recognised on an expected credit loss (ECL) basis for the following assets: 

 
• financial assets measured at amortised cost 

 
• debt investments measured at FVOCI 

 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial assets has increased significant since initial recognition 
and when estimating ECL, the Association considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant 
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and 
analysis based on the Association's historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward 
looking information. 

 
The Association uses the presumption that an asset which is more than 30 days past due has seen a significant 
increase in credit risk. 

 
The Association uses the presumption that a financial asset is in default when: 

 
• the other party is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Association in full, without recourse to the 

Association to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or 
 

• the financial assets is more than 90 days past due. 
 

Credit losses are measured as the present value of the difference between the cash flows due to the 
Association in accordance with the contract and the cash flows expected to be received. This is applied using a 
probability weighted approach. 

 
Trade receivables 

 
Impairment of trade receivables have been determined using the simplified approach in AASB 9 which uses an 
estimation of lifetime expected credit losses. The Association has determined the probability of non-payment of 
the receivable and multiplied this by the amount of the expected loss arising from default. 

 
The amount of the impairment is recorded in a separate allowance account with the loss being recognised in 
finance expense. Once the receivable is determined to be uncollectable then the gross carrying amount is 
written off against the associated allowance. 

 
Where the Association renegotiates the terms of trade receivables due from certain customers, the new 
expected cash flows are discounted at the original effective interest rate and any resulting difference to the 
carrying value is recognised in profit or loss. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

(c) Financial instruments 

Financial assets 

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost 
 

Impairment of other financial assets measured at amortised cost are determined using the expected credit loss 
model in AASB 9. On initial recognition of the asset, an estimate of the expected credit losses for the next 12 
months is recognised. Where the asset has experienced significant increase in credit risk then the lifetime 
losses are estimated and recognised. 

 
Financial liabilities 

 
The Association measures all financial liabilities initially at fair value less transaction costs, subsequently 
financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

 
The financial liabilities of the Association comprise trade payables, bank and other loans and lease liabilities. 

 
(d) Impairment of non-financial assets 

 
At the end of each reporting period the Association determines whether there is an evidence of an impairment 
indicator for non-financial assets. 

 
Where an indicator exists and regardless for indefinite life intangible assets and intangible assets not yet 
available for use, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. 

 
Where assets do not operate independently of other assets, the recoverable amount of the relevant cash- 
generating unit (CGU) is estimated. 

 
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and the value 
in use. Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or cash- 
generating unit. 

 
Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or 
loss. 

 
Reversal indicators are considered in subsequent periods for all assets which have suffered an impairment 
loss. 

 
(e) Leases 

 
For comparative year 

 
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all of the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, 
are charged as expenses on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease term. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

(f) Adoption of new and revised accounting standards 
 

The Association has adopted all standards which became effective for the first time at 30 June 2020, the 
adoption of these standards has not caused any material adjustments to the reported financial position, 
performance or cash flow of the Association or refer to Note 2 for details of the changes due to standards 
adopted. 

 
4 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 

 
Those charged with governance make estimates and judgements during the preparation of these financial statements 
regarding assumptions about current and future events affecting transactions and balances. 

 
These estimates and judgements are based on the best information available at the time of preparing the financial 
statements, however as additional information is known then the actual results may differ from the estimates. 

 
The significant estimates and judgements made have been described below. 

 
5 Result for the Year 
 

The result for the year includes the following specific expenses: 

 

 2020 2019 
 $ $ 

Other expenses:   

Employee benefits expense 3,942,626 2,833,653 

 
6 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

  

 2020 2019 
 $ $ 

Cash on hand 1,135 806 
Bank balances 233,760 293,458 

 234,895 294,264 
 
7 Trade and Other Receivables 

  

 2020 2019 
 $ $ 

CURRENT   

Trade receivables 381,650 140,250 
Prepayments 48,874 7,590 
Other receivables 4,245 9,621 

Total current trade and other 
receivables 

 
434,769 

 
157,461 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

8 Other Financial Assets 
 

(a) Held-to-maturity investments   

 2020 2019 
 $ $ 

CURRENT   
Term Deposits 823,458 1,312,322 

 823,458 1,312,322 
 
9 Property, plant and equipment 

  

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT   
 2020 2019 
 $ $ 

Furniture and equipment   

At cost 329,809 227,140 
Accumulated depreciation (137,193) (123,984) 

Total furniture and equipment 192,616 103,156 

Motor vehicles   

At cost 27,458 26,731 
Accumulated depreciation - (8,353) 

Total motor vehicles 27,458 18,378 

Total property, plant and 
equipment 

 
220,074 

 
121,534 

 
10 Leases 

  

Right-of-use assets 
  

 Properties 
leased 

 
Total 

 $ $ 

Year ended 30 June 2020   

Depreciation charge (65,159) (65,159) 
Additions to right-of-use assets 225,545 225,545 

Balance at end of year 160,386 160,386 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

10 Leases 
 

Lease liabilities 
 

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash flows is shown in the table below: 
Lease liabilities 

 
 
 
 

2020 

 
 

< 1 year 
$ 

 
 

1 - 5 years 
$ 

Total 
undiscounted 
lease liabilities 

$ 

included in this 
Statement Of 

Financial Position 
$ 

Lease liabilities 38,050 127,857 165,907 165,907 
 

 

11 Trade and Other Payables 
 

  
 

CURRENT 

 
Note 

2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

Trade payables  38,242 14,964 
Other payables  266,038 147,751 
GST payable  60,703 69,050 
VLA Carry forward deficit (surplus)  2,513 (1,320) 
Income in Advance  468,511 890,498 

   836,007 1,120,943 
 

Trade and other payables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are normally settled within 30 days. The carrying 
value of trade and other payables is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value due to the short-term nature 
of the balances. 

 
12 Provisions 
  

 

CURRENT 

2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

Provision for long service leave 138,694 166,737 
Provision for annual leave 317,239 231,318 
Provision for sick leave 9,000 9,000 

  464,933 407,055 
 
 

 2020 2019 
$ $ 

NON-CURRENT 
Provision for long service leave 

 
91,521 

 
72,730 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020 

 
 

13 Cash Flow Information 
 

(a) Reconciliation of result for the year to cashflows from operating activities 
 

Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities: 

 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
 Profit for the year 30,361 56,175 
 Cash flows excluded from profit   
 attributable to operating activities   
 Non-cash flows in profit:   
 - depreciation 48,305 39,604 
 -right of use asset net adjustment 5,522 - 
 - net (gain) loss on disposal of 

property, plant and equipment 
 

(1,405) 
 

- 
 Changes in assets and liabilities:   
 - (increase)/decrease in trade and 

other receivables 
 

(277,308) 
 

(100,227) 
 - increase/(decrease) in trade and 

other payables 
 

(284,937) 
 

438,062 
 - increase/(decrease) in provisions 76,669 125,733 

Cashflows from operations   (402,793) 559,347 

 
14 Events Occurring After the Reporting Date 

 
During the financial year, the World Health Organisation declared COVID-19 as a global pandemic. To date there has 
been no financial impact on the Organisation. Management continue to monitor the ever evolving situation and should 
any adjustments be required, this will be reflected in the following financial year/s when an actual outcome, if any is 
known. 

 
No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the Association, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
Association in future financial years. 

 
15 Statutory Information 

 
The registered office and principal place of business of the 
association is: 

Eastern Community Legal Centre Inc. 
Suite 3, Town Hall Hub, 
27 Bank Street 
Box Hill VIC 3128 
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Responsible Persons' Declaration 

The responsible persons declare that in the responsible persons' opinion: 

• there are reasonable grounds to believe that the registered entity is able to pay all of its debts, as and when they
become due and payable; and

• the financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission Act 2012.

Signed in accordance with subsection 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission Regulation 2013. 

           Janet Matton AM            Luong Ta
           Chairperson                   Treasurer 

Dated:           Tuesday 27th October 2020

Responsible person:       Responsible person: 
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Eastern Community Legal Centre Inc. 
 

Independent Audit Report to the members of Eastern Community Legal 
Centre Inc. 

 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Eastern Community Legal Centre Inc., which comprises the statement of financial 
position as at 30 June 2020, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in 
equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies, and the responsible persons' declaration. 

 
In our opinion the financial report of Eastern Community Legal Centre Inc. has been prepared in accordance with Division 
60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including: 

 
(i) giving a true and fair view of the Registered Entity's financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its financial 

performance for the year ended; and 
 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent described in Note 1, and Division 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013. 

 
Basis for Opinion 

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 
independent of the Registered Entity in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act) and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and 
Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 
Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting 

 
We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial report has been 
prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the Registered Entity's financial reporting responsibilities under the ACNC Act. As a 
result, the financial report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

 
Responsibilities of Responsible Entities for the Financial Report 

 
The responsible persons of the Registered Entity are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view and have determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 1 to the financial report is appropriate to 
meet the requirements of the ACNC Act and the needs of the members. The responsible entities' responsibility also 
includes such internal control as the responsible entities determine is necessary to enable the preparation of a financial 
report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 
Liability limited by a scheme under approved by Professional Standards Legislation. 



Eastern Community Legal Centre Inc.

Independent Audit Report to the members of Eastern Community Legal
Centre Inc.

In preparing the financial report, the responsible persons are responsible for assessing the Registered Entity's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the responsible entities either intend to liquidate the Registered Entity or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report.

LDB Audit Services Pty Ltd

1-3 Albert Street

BLACKBURN VIC 3130

Hilton Miller
Director
Dated this ..................................................... day of .......................................2020

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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